
Security Cameras, Maintenance and Support RFP 

Question and Answer RFP Addendum 

1. In regard to repairing cameras, if one of the cameras is bad will the vendor be required to 
replace the camera? 

Answer: Yes, and the vendor will have remote access. 

2. Will the City need to review the bidding contractors list of camera equipment to be approved 
before installing? 

Answer: Yes. The City will need to see a list of cameras from the vendor to be 
approved by the City before contracting. 

3. How will the City be scoring proposal responses? 

Answer: Evaluation Criteria is listed in 9.1 for reference. 

4. What are the proposal submission requirements for this RFP? 

Answer: Please review section 8 Format & Submittal Requirements. 

5. Can’t the Question cut off in the timeline be extended until Wednesday, July 5 @ 5pm? 

Answer: Yes, the Question cutoff is extended to Wednesday, July 5 @ 5pm.  

6. How will responses to the questions be provided. 

Answer: The responses will be posted to Beacon where the RFP is for reference.  

7. In reference to RFP Page 15, F, how many technicians need to be available for major events?  

Answer: On-Site support is warranted for Special Events in which a heavy usage is put 
on the system and outages require quick diagnosis and response. These events include 
but are not limited to 5-7 times a year. A main contact from the City will be 
established along with a main contact from the awarded contractor. 

8. Is the Genetec software support within this scope? 

Answer: Current Genetec Support is valid until June 30th, 2018. 

9. In regards to the option to renew, how would payment of the software agreement work if the 
option to renew was upheld but only for 1 year and not the second optional year? 

Answer: The City asks that the contractors provide a cost breakdown of the optional 
4th and 5th year to show costs of proposed subscriptions. 

10. What equipment is needed to access camera locations? 

Answer: For most locations a bucket truck can access the cameras. Other access points 
to cameras would be at street level access, inside facilities and rooftop access points. 

11. How many servers? 



Answer:  (6) Total Directory, Failover, LPR/Access Control, Mobile/Federation, (2) 
Archivers. 

12. How many cameras on server? 

Answer: Cameras listing is noted on Page 7 of RFP. 

13. How many record per each server? Frames per second, bit rate 

Answer: Assumption should be made that Cameras models are functioning at 
maximum bit rate and FPS capable, City ordinance governs recording be limited to 10 
days. 

14. Clarification on response time to initial request of equipment issues and actual repair fix for 
varying levels of services needed for Minor, Major, and Critical levels. 

Answer: As note in the RPF, a minor outage 24 hours response, major, 12 hour 
response, critical 4 hour response. COP request that a diagnosis update be provided 
once on scene and that issues that cannot be resolved with the inventory required to 
be on hand are resolved within 24 hours of response time.  

15. Would the City be able to provide a listing of how many locations require a bucket truck with a 
reach of 30’ and a quantity of locations with cameras greater than 30’?  While generating pricing 
knowing how many locations need special lifts, bucket trucks ect would be helpful to provide 
more accurate pricing. 

Answer: Out of the current locations, there are only (2) known from previous 
maintenance that require a bucket truck greater than 30'. 

16. My question is more of an assumption.  With most of the camera locations being at street 
intersections.  I am making the assumption that the city will be responsible for any traffic 
controlling needed to maintain the cameras at said intersection while maintenance by the 
integrator is being performed. 

Answer: Most locations are accessible from a slow lane or side street. COP will not 
provide traffic control each and every time that maintenance is required but there are 
a few location that are high traffic that assistance will be provided. 

17. Is any of the work related to camera testing and cleaning required to be done outside of normal 
business hours Monday – Friday 8am-5pm? 

Answer: Most work can be performed M-F 8/5 in relative to cleaning and testing. Any 
systemwide outages that require an outage will need to be coordinated first and may 
be requested to be performed off hours. A weekly check of cameras during nighttime 
hours to ensure views are not out of focus or any issues with night lighting is required. 

18. In reference to Item 4.1.2, Service Provider will be furnished with an approved list of minimum 
specifications for camera replacements from which to choose upon award. 

Question: The approved list of spare parts would be required prior to bid in order to build the 
costs for the specified items to be included in pricing. Can that be obtained? 



Answer: Bidder shall assume a spare solution for each application should be 
maintained. COP does not have an inventory of spare equipment owned by the City. 

19. In reference to Item 4.1. Camera View Reviews, the City is asking for daily review and report of 
outages  - out of focus cameras – obstructed views – network status – camera link performance 
and ping times – day night image quality.  

Question: Most of the items listed above can be done daily however some are time consuming 
tasks and are not practical every day. To view 270+ cameras each day for focus issues and or 
obstruction issues will take time particularly as the bulk of cameras are PTZ units. Some of these 
tasks cannot be automated or done by software such as items like Ping Times. Day night views 
focus obstructions require real time viewing of reasonably sized images while on the client 
network.  As written these tasks may require several hours of time daily. Can the list of daily 
tasks be more clearly defined? 

Answer: A review of the system daily to determine any cameras that the PTZ is 
pointing at a building or ground and determining any camera outages that require dispatch. A 
Network monitoring service that allows proactive monitoring of the infrastructure to predict 
issues and outages before they occur should be proposed. 

20. In reference to Section g. Pricing, The bidder shall provide quotes for replacement/expansion 
cameras based on an approved list of manufacturers and models. Bidder shall include a sample 
quote in their proposal showing all items incurring additional charges to the City including 
material costs, proposed percentage markup or discount off of list price specified, time/labor 
costs for installation and/or repair, and any additional maintenance fees. Bidder shall include a 
list of commonly specified camera manufacturers, as well as a list of manufacturers proposed 
for the City, with an estimated markup of product for each. 

Question: Is the city looking for just manufacturer and discount from MSRP or are they looking 
for more detailed camera models and cost? 

Answer: Vendor should propose a list of cameras that are intended to replaced 
current models. Detailed specifications of the cameras should be included. COP must sanction 
all equipment prior to install or purchased for inventory.  

21. In reference to Section h. Management of Spare Parts– The Bidder shall provide locally stored 
inventory of spare parts. This inventory is used to replace a device upon failure to minimize 
downtime. The Bidder shall review the current inventory and propose, quote, and purchase a 
minimum but adequate amount of spare parts. The bidder is responsible for the cost of 
replenishing the spare parts inventory over the contract term. The spare parts are the integral 
part of the system. Just as the entire system the spare parts are the property of the City and 
under maintenance responsibility of the Bidder. The Bidder shall continue to maintain the 
adequate inventory level of spare parts throughout the contract.  

Question: Are there currently spare parts that are in working order or should we assume that no 
real inventory currently exists. A few radios in the list of equipment provided carry price tags of 
between $10-20,000 a set. Are there spares for these radios? 



Answer: Vendor should assume no spares exist.  

22. In reference to Section d. Penalties– Should the Bidder fail to meet the required response times, 
the following penalties may be assessed against the Bidder:  

"If the Bidder fails to meet the response times response the following penalties may be assessed 
against the Bidder by the City:  

1 - 2 Hours late = $100 an hour.  

3 -4 Hours late = $200 + $200 an hour.  

> 4 Hours late = $600 + $400 an hour.  

If the Bidder fails to meet the response times more than one time in any 30 days the City 
reserves the right to terminate the maintenance contract with the Bidder."  

Also in Section p. Require a performance bond and/or other “failure to deliver” agreement by 
the awardee at time of contracting.  

Question: The city mentions the failure to meet response time 2X in a month as being a reason 
to void the contract. Another section of the spec mentions the possibility of requiring a bond. 
Our initial review with bonding agency was met with concern regarding this clause and a bond. 
What will the city position be on this? 

Answer: No performance bond is required with the submittal for this RFP.  

23. In reference to the Verbal Statement at Pre-Bid Dan Shak made mentioning that the spec would 
be amended to require a 100% guarantee of all components other than items damaged by 
abuse or Acts of God.  

Question: If the city does intend to make this change to the specs then camera models and radio 
models that are acceptable replacements should be known in advance in order to price the 
estimated replacement needed into quotes. 

Answer: Included in your bid should be the proposed radios and cameras models 
supported by the vendor and specifications. COP must sanction all equipment prior to install 
or purchased for inventory.  

24. Can the RFP be extended until 7/28/17 

Answer: This project is on a strict timeline, the date cannot be extended. 

25. In reference to Section 4.1.2 Camera Asset Inventory  

The City of Pittsburgh has an existing inventory list comprised of the following camera 
quantities. The present Camera models and quantities on the system are listed below. Bidders 
will be responsible for maintenance of the below equipment as well as maintaining an approved 
replacement camera in inventory for each application of camera (e.g. PTZ, fixed, etc) and 
maintaining any future expansion as defined in the background section 2. Service Provider will 
be furnished with an approved list of minimum specifications for camera replacements from 



which to choose upon award. Using the below as an example, the expectation, in regard to the 
different models of Street Level PTZ Cameras, would be to have one (1) of the latest model and 
not one (1) for each model. 

Question: Is the HIKVISION camera product line to be utilized for replacement or can we use 
AXIS and SAMSUNG? 

Answer: All camera for replacement must be approved and sanctioned by COP, Axis 
and Samsung as long as the model is sanctioned will be acceptable.  

26. In reference to Section c. System Documentation 

o Camera locations  

o IP addresses  

o User name and passwords  

o Make and model  

o Firmware version  

o Date installed and last time serviced (should capture within dashboard)  

o As built documentation  

o Detailed history of camera moves and changes  

o Network Architecture  

Question: Do these documents exist today and are they accurate and current? 

Answer: Documentation that was provided to COP throughout the project will be 
provided to the vendor, enhanced as build drawling will need to be maintained.  

27. In reference to Section "Server and workstation software updates, - Bidder shall install updates 
of VMS system to servers on a quarterly basis or if a security risk is identified, immediate. Bidder 
shall backup all server images of VMS before and after software updates are applied 

Question: If the VMS is running on a City owned virtual server will the back-up process and 
maintenance be the bidders responsibility? 

Answer: COP I&P will manage and maintain the Virtual Environment. VMS Database 
and as builds should be backed up routinely by vendor.  

28. In reference to Section "Camera view reviews" - Bidder shall check each camera view daily 
alternating daylight and nighttime views for any viewing issues such as:  

o Outages (no video)  

o Out of focus cameras 

o Out of home position cameras  



o Obstructed view by dirty or damaged lens, or dirty or damaged housing window  

o Obstructed view by any natural or manmade object  

o Network Status, Camera link performance and response times/pings. 

Questions: Can the daily/nighttime view be done remotely? 

Answer: Vendor will have remote access to the VMS. Views shall be checked to ensure 
IR filters, Day/Night settings or other views are obstructed at night.  

Can the ping be automatically generated by the VMS/network? 

Answer: A Network monitoring service that allows proactive monitoring of the 
infrastructure to predict issues and outages before they occur should be proposed. 

29. In reference to Section 4.1.2 Camera Asset Inventory (Page 6) 

Question: Do you already have a stock of approved replacement cameras or are we to include 
the cost of an inventory in our bid?  

Answer: There is currently not a stock maintained by the COP. Cost of an inventory 
should be included in the bid. All camera in stock must be approved and sanctioned by COP. 

30. In reference to Section 4.1.2 Camera Asset Inventory (Page 9) 

Question: The chart shows 165 radios. Is that 165 radios or 165 links? 

Answer: This should be individual radios.  

31. In reference to Section 4.14 Service Requirements (Page 11) 

Server and workstation software updates - Bidder shall install updates of VMS system to 
servers on a quarterly basis or if a security risk is identified, immediate. Bidder shall backup all 
server images of VMS before and after software updates are applied. 

Question: Does server imaging software presently exist or is this referring to the back-up of the 
VMS database? 

Answer: COP I&P will manage and maintain the Virtual Environment. VMS Database 
and as builds should be backed up routinely by vendor.  

32. In reference to Section "Software and firmware upgrades" - Bidder shall check for available 
upgrades for the cameras, switches, VMS, and radios. 

Questions: Please specify which switches we will be responsible for? 

Answer: There are network switches at federations locations and master radios sites.  

Do you have a current SSA and when does it expire? 

Answer: Current Genetec Support is valid until June 30th, 2018. 

Do we need to include the cost of an SSA in this bid to cover a three year period? 



Answer: SSA should be quotes as a line item in the bid. 

33. In reference to Section "Camera view reviews" - Bidder shall check each camera view daily 
alternating daylight and nighttime views for any viewing issues such as: o   Outages (no video) 

o Out of focus cameras 

o Out of home position cameras 

o Obstructed view by dirty or damaged lens, or dirty or damaged housing window 

o Obstructed view by any natural or manmade object 

o Network Status, Camera link performance and response times/pings.  

Questions: Can you specify in more detail? Are you looking for a network monitoring service?    

Answer: Yes, A Network monitoring service that allows proactive monitoring of the 
infrastructure to predict issues and outages before they occur.  

Does the city have automatic alert on VMS notifications? 

Answer: Current VMS will have VMS Notifications enabled.   

Is it the city’s intent to perform the above actions every single day? 

Answer: A review of the system daily to determine any cameras that the PTZ is 
pointing at a building or ground and determining any camera outages that require 
dispatch.  

Would you consider these actions being done on a quarterly basis? 

Answer: Cameras should be checked daily to ensure there are no outages.  

34. In reference to Section "b. Semi-annual maintenance: The Bidder shall provide the following 
maintenance on a semi-annual basis (every 6 months):  

Dome and camera housing cleaning - The cleaning shall include wiping the dome and/or camera 
housing internally and externally with a manufacturer approved cleaning solution and wipes. 
Bidder shall also clean the interior of the camera (bugs, dirt, debris, etc.). Deteriorating weather 
seals and latches, deteriorating paint and environmental protection, deteriorating mounting 
hardware, ventilation mesh and filters, shall all be cleaned and/or replaced as necessary.  

Question: Will the City of Pittsburgh be responsible for all road closures and traffic 
coordination? 

Answer: Most locations are accessible from a slow lane or side street. COP will not 
provide traffic control each and every time that maintenance is required but there are 
a few location that are high traffic that assistance will be provided. 

35. In reference to Section "h. Management of spare Parts – The Bidder shall provide locally stored 
inventory of spare parts. This inventory is used to replace a device upon failure to minimize 
downtime. The Bidder shall review the current inventory and propose, quote, and purchase a 



minimum but adequate amount of spare parts. The bidder is responsible for the cost of 
replenishing the spare parts inventory over the contract term. The spare parts are the integral 
part of the system. Just as the entire system the spare parts are the property of the City and 
under maintenance responsibility of the Bidder. The Bidder shall continue to maintain the 
adequate inventory level of spare parts throughout the contract.  

Question: Is there an existing spare parts list and what are those parts and part numbers? 

Answer: Bidder shall assume a spare solution for each application should be 
maintained. COP does not have an inventory of spare equipment owned by the City. 

36. In reference to Section "I. Equipment warranty – The Bidder shall provide warranty on all the 
equipment in the system including the spare parts inventory for the duration of the 
maintenance contract. Proposed warranty terms, conditions, and exclusions shall be included in 
the bid.  

Question: Is this RFP to include a 100% warranty on the existing system parts? 

Answer: Yes 

Is this RFP to include a 100% warranty on the existing wiring infrastructure and backbone? 

Answer: Yes  

37. In reference to Section "f. Onsite Service - Bidder shall provide on-site support for major civic 
celebrations and special events in the City. Including, but not limited to: Major Holidays, 
Parades, Festivals, etc. City rep will coordinate efforts for support. 

Question: How many days are required for dedicated “onsite” service? 

Answer: On-Site support is warranted for Special Events in which a heavy usage is put 
on the system and outages require quick diagnosis and response. These events include 
but are not limited to 5-7  times a year. A main contact from the City will be 
established along with a main contact from the awarded contractor.  

38. In reference to Section "p. Require a performance bond and/or other “failure to deliver” 
agreement by the awardee at time of contracting. 

Question: Will a performance bond be required? 

Answer: No performance bond is required with the submittal for this RFP.  

What % of the project is required? 

Answer: No performance bond is required with the submittal for this RFP.  

39. In reference to Section b. Features VMS  

Web based access  

Browser/MDT  

Mobile Application  



Gunshot detection integration 

Sensor mapping  

PTZ on sensor activation  

Modules – 3D mapping  

Question: What is your meaning or intent of “3-D Mapping”? 

Answer: An enhancement to our current VMS or a module of a proposed VMS that 
incorporates a mapping component capable of showing camera field of views, Arc 
GIS/Esri mapping, LPR events and Access Control Events. 

 

 

 

 


